# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### **GLENN POPPENHEIMER**

APPELLANT

**APPELLEES** 

V.

4 .

1

1

í

NO. 2011-IA-OO541-SCT

ESTATE OF JOE D. COYLE, DECEASED, et al

# INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE COUNTY COURT OF DESOTO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

## BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT, GLENN POPPENHEIMER

Goodloe T. Lewis, MSB Josiah Dennis Coleman, MSB Lawrence J. Tucker, MSB Hickman, Goza and Spragins, PLLC P.O. Drawer 668 Oxford, MS 38655

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### **GLENN POPPENHEIMER**

### APPELLANT

APPELLEES

V.

í

NO. 2011-IA-OO541-SCT

## ESTATE OF JOE D. COYLE, DECEASED, et al

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

# **I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- The Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department and its employees receive the protection of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act.
- 2. The County Court of DeSoto County erred by failing to dismiss the claims of the estate.

#### **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### A. The Nature of the Case

The instant matter is before the Supreme Court pursuant to a successful petition for interlocutory appeal filed by Glenn Poppenheimer, the appellant here and plaintiff in the proceedings below. The matter is an action for personal injury pending in the County Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi. The case arises from an automobile collision that occurred around 3:30 a.m. on January 27, 2007, in DeSoto County, Mississippi, while Mr. Poppenheimer, a volunteer firefighter, responded to a fire call.

#### **B.** The Course of the Proceedings Below

1

The procedural history is complicated by the fact that there existed two separate civil actions involving the same parties and the same collision, one pending in the County Court of DeSoto County and the other in the Circuit Court of DeSoto County.

## 1. Proceedings in the County Court of DeSoto County

Mr. Poppenheimer filed his complaint against the Estate of Joe D. Coyle, deceased, and Mississippi Farm Bureau Casualty Company on January 14, 2010. Mr. Poppenheimer alleged therein that the late Mr. Coyle failed to yield the right of way and caused the collision, and he sought judgment against Mr. Coyle's estate. (R. at 9-12). Mr. Poppenheimer sued Mississippi Farm Bureau for uninsured or underinsured motorists benefits. (R. at 12).

Mr. Coyle's estate filed an ultimately unsuccessful motion to transfer the civil action to Circuit Court.<sup>1</sup> (R. at 15-16). The Estate also answered and filed a counter-complaint on the

The County Court of DeSoto County denied the motion to transfer the case to Circuit Court via order dated March 5, 2010, (R. at 34-36), after a hearing held on March 5, 2010. (T. at 2).

same day, January 25, 2010. (R. at 18-26). In response to the Estate's counterclaim, Mr. Poppenheimer filed a motion to dismiss or, in the alternative, for summary judgment on March 3, 2010. (R. at 28-31). Mr. Poppenheimer argued the issue now on appeal – that the Mississippi Tort Claims Act applied to him as a volunteer firefighter in the course and scope of his employment. Mr. Poppenheimer also argued that the Estate never produced evidence of negligence on the part of Mr. Poppenheimer. The Estate responded to the motion on November 23, 2010. (R. at 37-57).

Also on November 23, 2010, the County Court held a hearing on Mr. Poppenheimer's dispositive motion. (T. at 10-22).<sup>2</sup> Following the hearing, on December 2, 2010, the County Court entered an order allowing the parties to further supplement the record. (R. at 63). Mr. Poppenheimer filed a supplemental brief on January 18, 2011, (R. at 64-71), and the Estate followed suit on January 19, 2011. (R. at 72-100).<sup>3</sup>

The County Court denied Mr. Poppenheimer's dispositive motion by order entered March 23, 2011. (R. at 130-138, R.E. at 6-14)). Following the order, Mr. Poppenheimer successfully petitioned the Supreme Court for leave to file an interlocutory appeal. (R. at 367).

#### 2. Proceedings in the Circuit Court of DeSoto County

Į.

While Mr. Poppenheimer's complaint was pending against Mr. Coyle's estate in the County Court, the estate had filed a complaint against Mr. Poppenheimer in the Circuit Court of

<sup>3</sup> The estate filed a motion for additional briefing on March 2, 2011, (R. at 101), which was denied by order entered March 10, 2011. (R. at 117).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pursuant to MISS. R. APP. P. 28(e), Mr. Poppenheimer will herein refer to pages from the record on appeal as (R. at #) and to pages found in the transcript of the hearings as (T. at #).

DeSoto County. The civil action there had the Civil Action Number CV2010-0013CD. (R. at 143). The estate also filed a Notice of Removal in the Circuit Court, whereby it sought removal of the County Court action to the Circuit Court. (R. at 139).

In response to the estate's complaint, Mr. Poppenheimer filed a similar motion to dismiss, citing the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. (R. at 118-129). As was the case in the County Court, several rounds of responses and rebuttals followed.

Matters in the Circuit Court drew to a close when the Circuit Court entered an agreed order transferring the case to County Court on March 24, 2011. (R. at 328-337). As an aside, the Circuit Court's order contains a detailed history of the filings of the parties.

#### C. Facts Necessary for Review

The underlying collision occurred at 3:30 a.m. on January 27, 2007, in DeSoto County, Mississippi. (R. at 32). Mr. Poppenheimer drove his 1998 Dodge pickup, (R. at 46), and Joe D. Coyle the other vehicle. (R. at 32). At the time of the collision, Mr. Poppenheimer – a member of the Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department – was responding to a fire call. He was driving with his red emergency light and hazard lights operating, and he was driving to the fire department. He testified via affidavit that he was driving approximately forty miles per hour. Mr. Poppenheimer proceeded through an intersection where he had no stop sign, but crosstraffic, *i.e.* Mr. Coyle, did. Mr. Coyle pulled out in front of him. Mr. Poppenheimer unsuccessfully attempted to avoid the collision by applying his brakes and swerving. (R. at 32).

From the above-described facts, what is relevant is that Mr. Poppenheimer was a volunteer firefighter with the Bridgetown Fire Department and that he was in the act of responding to a fire call when the collision occurred. (R. at 32). Neither the volunteer fire

department, DeSoto County, nor the State of Mississippi paid Mr. Poppenheimer to be a volunteer firefighter. (R. at 44-45, 47). The fire department did provided Mr. Poppenheimer with firefighting equipment and a uniform. (R. at 37).

The Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department received funding from citizens, the county, and the state. (R. at 42). Although Mr. Poppenheimer did not know amounts, he understood that the department received money from the state. (R. at 43). DeSoto County provides training to new volunteer firefighters, although Mr. Poppenheimer himself did not undergo the training because he was already certified. (R. at 220-221). Mr. Poppenheimer has been trained to obey the law when responding to a fire, and he understands that when responding firefighters may not break the speed limit or other traffic laws. (R. at 46, 47).

The Mississippi Tort Claims Board reviews insurance coverage obtained by the Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department pursuant to MISS. CODE. ANN. § 11-46-17(3). (R. at 342). The Tort Claims Board considers the fire department to be a political subdivision, and it addresses the department as such in correspondence. (R. at 342). The Tort Claims Board reviewed and approved the fire department's year 2010 coverage under MISS. CODE. ANN. § 11-46-17(3), which requires political subdivisions to submit their coverages for approval by the Board. (R. at 342-343). The Tort Claim Board's governmental records show that at the time of the collision in January 2007, the Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department had coverage in place. (R. at 149-150). Moreover, pursuant to MISS. CODE. ANN. § 11-46-17(3), the Tort Claims Board approved that coverage as it must do for political subdivisions such as the volunteer fire department. (R. at 150, 151).

-5-

#### **III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department is a political subdivision of the State of Mississippi as the term is defined by the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. Because it meets the definitional requirements of a political subdivision, it also meets the definition of a governmental entity. Accordingly, in order to successfully sue the department or any of its employees, a plaintiff must meet the requirements of the Tort Claims Act.

r

i.

The fire department is a body politic, in that it is an organization of citizens organized to perform a governmental function or activity. In fact, the Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department and its firefighters such as Mr. Poppenheimer perform a *quintessential* governmental activity – fire suppression and protection. Mississippi's Legislature, via the Tort Claims Act, and its Supreme Court have recognized the dangerous nature of fire suppression and protection activities and noted that due to that dangerous nature those who perform them should fall within the scope of the Tort Claims Act.

Because the fire department is a governmental entity and Mr. Poppenheimer was its employee acting within the course and scope of his employment at the time of the underlying collision, the estate was required to meet the procedural requirements of the Tort Claims Act, including the notice and limitations of actions requirements. The estate, however, wholly failed to give the required notice and file its complaint well after the one-year statute of limitations ran. For this reason, Mr. Poppenheimer asks the Supreme Court to reverse the County Court's denial of his dispositive motion and render a verdict in his favor as to the estate's claims against him.

Alternatively, in order to prevail on its claims of negligence against Mr. Poppenheimer, it must prove that he committed some act of negligence, and that such act was a proximate

-6-

contributing cause of the accident in question. Here, the County Court relied on only one potential act of negligence on the part of Mr. Poppenheimer: his possible failure to "decrease speed" as he approached the intersection in question. This argument is based upon an antiquated and somewhat discredited statute, Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-505. Nonetheless, there is no proof whatsoever that any speed on the part of Mr. Poppenheimer had anything to do with the accident, and the uncontradicted proof in this case is that Mr. Coyle simply failed to yield to the right of way and pulled out in front of Mr. Poppenheimer, giving him no chance to avoid the accident no matter the speed he was traveling.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. <u>Standard of Review and Summary Judgment Standard</u>

The Mississippi Supreme Court reviews questions regarding the Tort Claims Act de novo.

Mississippi Dept. of Public Safety v. Durn, 861 So.2d 990, 994 (¶ 7) (Miss. 2003).

Appellate courts also apply a *de novo* standard when reviewing the granting of a motion

for summary judgment. Whitaker v. Limeco, 32 So. 3d 429, 433-34 (¶ 10) (Miss. 2010). The

summary judgment standard has been articulated as follows:

In evaluating a grant of summary judgment, this Court views all evidentiary matters, including admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, admissions, and affidavits. *Glover v. Jackson State Univ.*, 968 So.2d 1267, 1275 (Miss. 2007) (citing MISS. R. CIV. P. 56(c)). The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non moving party. *Simpson v. Boyd*, 880 So.2d 1047, 1050 (Miss.2004) (quoting *Palmer v. Anderson Infirmary Benevolent Ass'n*, 656 So.2d 790, 794 (Miss. 1995)). The existence of a genuine issue of material fact will preclude summary judgment. *Massey v. Tingle*, 867 So.2d 235, 238 (Miss. 2004). A fact is material if it "tends to resolve any of the issues properly raised by the parties." *Simpson*, 880 So.2d at 1050 (quoting *Palmer*, 656 So.2d at 794). The motion "should be overruled unless the trial court finds, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the plaintiff would be unable to prove any facts to support his claim." *Simpson*, 880 So.2d at 1050 (quoting *Palmer*, 656 So.2d at 796).

Spann v. Shuqualak Lumber Co., 990 So. 2d 186, 189 (§ 6) (Miss. 2008).

The non moving party is not always given the benefit of every doubt as to the existence of a material fact. On the contrary, "[t]he non-moving party's claim must be supported by more than a mere scintilla of colorable evidence; it must be evidence upon which a fair-minded jury could return a favorable verdict." *Rowan v. Kia Motors America, Inc.*, 16 So. 3d 62, 66 (¶ 12) (Miss. App. 2009). The Court must draw all *reasonable* inferences in favor of the plaintiffs, *Partin v. North Miss. Med. Ctr., Inc.*, 929 So. 2d 924, 929 (¶ 16) (Miss. App. 2005), not all possible or imaginable inferences.

# B. <u>The Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department and its employees receive the</u> protection of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, MISS. CODE. ANN. § 11-46-9

The Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department is a political subdivision as the term is

defined in MISS. CODE. ANN. § 11-46-1(i). Mr. Poppenheimer is its employee and was acting

within the course and scope of his employment at the time of the underlying collision.

Accordingly, Mr. Poppenheimer receives the protections and benefits set forth in the Mississippi

Tort Claims Act.

. .

÷

The Mississippi legislature enacted the Tort Claims Act, electing to waive sovereign

immunity as to political subdivisions and public employees, but only when certain procedural

requirements were fulfilled. Suddith v. University of Southern Mississippi, 977 So.2d 1158,

1177-1178 (¶ 45) (Miss. 2007). It is only by meeting the requirements of the Act that a plaintiff

may successfully pursue a civil action against a political subdivision or its employee.

# 1. Mississippi Law Exempts Firefighters Engaged in the Performance of Their Duties from Liability for Negligence

The Mississippi Tort Claims Act applies, by its very terms, to firefighters. MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED Section 11-46-9(1)(c) provides as follows:

A governmental entity and its employees acting within the course and scope of their employment or duties shall not be liable for any claim . . . [a]rising out of any act or omission of an employee of a governmental entity engaged in the performance or execution of duties or activities *relating to police or fire protection* unless the employee acted in reckless disregard of the safety and well-being of any person not engaged in criminal activity at the time of injury.

(Emphasis added). Clearly, the legislature considers firefighters to be of a kind with police officers for purposes of applying the provisions of the Tort Claims Act and extending its

protections.

Mississippi's Supreme Court acknowledged the protection of the Tort Claims Act,

specifically MISS. CODE. ANN. § 11-46-9, to firefighters. In Maldonado v. Kelly, 768 So. 2d 906

(Miss. 2000), it wrote as follows:

The purpose of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9 is to "protect law enforcement personnel from lawsuits arising out of the performance of their duties in law enforcement, with respect to the alleged victim." [City of Jackson v. Perry, 764 So.2d 373, 379 (Miss. 2000)]. Police officers and fire fighters are more likely to be exposed to dangerous situations and to liability, and therefore, public policy requires that they not be liable for mere negligence. Entities engaged in police and fire protection activities will be liable for reckless acts only. Maye v. Pearl River County, 758 So.2d 391 (Miss.1999); Turner v. City of Ruleville, 735 So.2d 226 (Miss.1999).

Id. at 909 ( $\P$  6) (emphasis added).

At least one other jurisdiction has applied sovereign immunity to a volunteer firefighter on his way to a fire. In *National R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Catlett Volunteer Fire Co., Inc.*, 404 S.E. 2d 216 (Va. 1991), the Virginia Supreme Court held that a volunteer firefighter who violated state law by failing to stop a fire truck at a railway crossing was nevertheless protected by Virginia's sovereign immunity. *Id.* at 222.

As will be shown below, the statutes comprising the Mississippi Tort Claims Act show that, without question, the Act recognizes volunteer fire departments and volunteer firefighters as falling within the scope of the Act.

# 2. The Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department Meets the Statutory Definition of a Governmental Entity

A governmental entity is defined as the state itself and political subdivisions as defined by statute. MISS. CODE. ANN. § 11-46-1(g). In turn, the definition of a political subdivision may also be found in MISS. CODE. ANN. § 11-46-1, which states in pertinent part as follows:

"Political subdivision" means any body politic or body corporate other than the state responsible for governmental activities only in geographic areas smaller than that of the state, including, but not limited to, any county, municipality, school district, community hospital as defined in Section 41-13-10, Mississippi Code of 1972, airport authority or other instrumentality thereof, whether or not such body or instrumentality thereof has the authority to levy taxes or to sue or be sued in its own name.

MISS. CODE. ANN. § 11-46-1(i). Accordingly, for the Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department to

meet the definition of a political subdivision and, therefore, a governmental entity, it must (1) be

a body politic or a body corporate other than the state and (2) be responsible for governmental

activities in a geographic region smaller than the state. Id. The undisputed facts of the record

show that the Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department easily meets both.

a. The Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department is a Body Politic

A volunteer fire department, such as the Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department, is a

quintessential body politic. The Mississippi Supreme Court previously adopted the following

definition of a body politic:

It has been said that the phrase connotes simply a group or body of citizens organized for the purpose of exercising governmental functions; that such a group may be large or small, and that it may be a group within a group, including counties even though they are but agencies of the state. It may be formed by a voluntary association of individuals, and is a social compact by which the whole people covenants with each citizen and each citizen with the whole people that all shall be governed by certain laws for the common good. Where the term is used as referring to the state, it signifies the state in its sovereign, corporate capacity, and applies to a body incorporated by the state and charged with the performance of a public duty, such as an institution of learning for the benefit of the people of a particular parish, or a corporate body created for the sole purpose of performing one or more municipal functions, or an incorporated board of trustees of a levee district, or a township declared by statute to be a body politic and incorporate. *Urban Renewal Agency of City of Aberdeen v. Tackett*, 255 So. 2d 904, 905 (Miss. 1971) (citing 11 C.J.S. Body, 380 (1938)). That a volunteer fire department is "a group or body of citizens" is so self-evident that it somewhat defies proof, but a review of the record and Mississippi's statutory treatment of fire departments buttresses the point.

Mr. Poppenheimer presents the perfect example of one of the citizens comprising a "group or body of citizens" in a volunteer fire department. He is a retired professional firefighter. (R. at 190). He now works in real estate investment and for a restaurant. (R. at 195, 197). Mr. Poppenheimer is an unpaid citizen volunteer. (R. at 36). The fire department members include his neighbors and other members of his community, (R. at 37), and membership is open to all members of the community who wish to participate and complete the required training. (R. at 45-46, 49).

Mississippi law further recognizes the fact that volunteer fire departments are groups of citizens. Pursuant to MISS. CODE. ANN. § 83-1-39, the state returns insurance rebate moneys to the county boards of supervisors for purposes of, *inter alia*, providing training and equipment to those citizens. MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED Section 37-107-1 includes volunteer firefighters among the public servants whose children receive scholarships should they be killed in the line of duty.

That the Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department is a group of citizens is clear. Equally clear is that the fire department engages in a governmental activity.

# b. <u>The Fire Protection Provided by the Bridgetown Volunteer Fire</u> <u>Department Constitutes a Governmental Activity</u>

There truly should be no debate that fire protection and suppression fits squarely within

the realm of a governmental activity. That the fire department engages in governmental activity or exercises a governmental function is relevant to both its status as a body politic and a direct requirement of the definition of political subdivision found in MISS. CODE. ANN. § 11-46-1(i).

As an initial matter, MISS. CODE. ANN. § 11-46-9(1)(c) places firefighters in the same tier as policemen when it comes to execution of public duties. The statute by its very terms provides that both are protected equally in their separate governmental functions. The *Maldonado* Court affirms the idea, writing that public policy protects *both* police and firefighters because both are likely to be exposed to increased liability as a result of their governmental functions. *Maldonado*, 768 So. 2d at 909 (¶ 6).

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