#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Case Number: 2011-IA-00541-SCT

**GLEN POPPENHEIMER** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

ESTATE OF JOE D. COYLE, DECEASED, Et Al.

**APPELLEES** 

Interlocutory Appeal from the County Court of the DeSoto County, Mississippi Civil Action No. CO2010-0059CD

### BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE, ESTATE OF JOE D. COYLE, DECEASED

**Oral Argument is Requested** 

JOHN BOOTH FARESE (MS

ATTORNEY FOR THE ESTATE OF JOE D. COYLE, DECEASED, APPELLEE

Farese, Farese & Farese, P.A. Post Office Box 98 Ashland, Mississippi 38603 Telephone: 662-224-6211 Facsimile: 662-224-3229

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Case Number: 2011-IA-00541-SCT

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

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The *Brief of the Appellant, Glenn Poppenheimer* previously filed herein states that there are two issues presented for review.<sup>111</sup> To re-state these issues in a neutral fashion, the issues presented are:

Issue 1:

Does the Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department ("BVFD")

and its employees receive the protection of the Mississippi

Tort Claims Act ("MTCA")?

Issue 2:

Did the County Court of DeSoto County err by failing to

dismiss the claims of the Estate of Joe D. Coyle?

The trial court stated it could not find, as a matter of law, that Glen Poppenheimer was entitled to the protections and notice requirements of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("MTCA") and, therefore, the trial court denied the motion for summary judgment. Poppenheimer argues that the trial court erred, and supports his argument by claiming: (1) that the MTCA applies to firefighters, citing Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9(1)(c); (2) that the Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department ("BVFD") meets the statutory definition of a "governmental entity" found at Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-1(g) because the BVFD "is a quintessential body politic" under Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-1(i); and, (3) that, alternatively, the BVFD is an "instrumentality" of DeSoto County. The Coyles assert that Poppenheimer's argument is without merit, and that the ruling of the trial court should be affirmed.

There is a Mississippi statute (to-wit: MISS. CODE ANN. §95-9-1) which provides an exemption from civil liability for volunteer firefighters, but specifically excluded by Section 95-9-1 are instances "[w]here the ... volunteer negligently operates a motor vehicle ...." Because the Coyles allege Poppenheimer's negligence in driving his vehicle caused the death

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup>See Brief of the Appellant, Glenn Poppenheimer, p. 1.

of Joe D. Coyle, Section 95-9-1 provides no protection to Poppenheimer. Poppenheimer desperately wants to fit within the MTCA so that the notice requirements of the MTCA may be applied and Poppenheimer can have the Coyles' claim dismissed for lack of notice.

The trial court never discussed MISS. CODE ANN. §95-9-1, because the trial court focused its inquiry almost exclusively on whether the BVFD is a "governmental entity." The trial court observed that the "over 10,000 volunteer firemen in the State of Mississippi" are "hardly a small number or obscure class of employees that were somehow left on the legislature's cutting room floor." If the BVFD is a "governmental entity" then all of those "over 10,000 volunteer firemen" are employees of a governmental entity. The simple existence of MISS. CODE ANN. §95-9-1 clearly demonstrates that volunteer firefighters have not somehow been overlooked by the legislature.

The question of whether an organization is a "governmental entity" or is a private institution has arisen in several cases involving health care providers, and these cases are instructive. The continuity, control, and management of the BVFD are not "under the power of the public through public agents who are responsibly accountable to the government." Thus, the BVFD simply is not a "governmental entity" under established principals of Mississippi law but is an "independent contractor" as found by the trial court, and Poppenheimer is not entitled to the protection of the MTCA.

Poppenheimer claims that the Mississippi Tort Claims Board recognizes the Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department as a governmental entity. This claim is simply wrong. In Attorney General's Opinion Number 96-0806 it is explained that "the Board has concluded that a volunteer fire department would not be included within the definition of 'political subdivision."

The BVFD is also not an "instrumentality" of DeSoto County as claimed by Poppenheimer. The trial court specifically noted that DeSoto County does not have "any supervisory control ... over the BVFD in its day-to-day operations," therefore, far from being an "instrumentality" of DeSoto County, the trial court found the BVFD is merely an "independent contractor."

Poppenheimer argues that "[t]he Estate failed to produce any evidence ... that Mr. Poppenheimer was negligent in any way," and argues the trial court should have granted summary judgment. The trial court ruled that "in regards to an 'intersection collision'" the issue of negligence is a question of fact to be resolved by a jury, and held "there is a question of fact to be resolved as it relates to Poppenheimer's operation of his vehicle as he approached the intersection." Poppenheimer testified:

- Q. Now, at that point when you first saw [Joe D. Coyle's] vehicle do you know approximately how fast you were going at that point?
- A. Forty. My speed didn't change any.

Also, in what appears to be an admission of carelessness and inattention, Poppenheimer testified: "I never thought anything in the world about him not seeing me or running the – you know, coming out of the intersection." Poppenheimer also admitted that his attention was not directed toward Joe D. Coyles' vehicle, but was directed down the road to the fire station. The trial court ruled that "Poppenheimer's argument that no genuine issue of material fact exists regarding the actual collision is not well taken and his motion for Summary Judgment on this issue will also be denied." This decision was correct and should be affirmed.

\*\*\*\*\*

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. INTRODUCTION AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The *Brief of the Appellant, Glenn Poppenheimer* previously filed herein states that there are two issues presented for review.<sup>112</sup> To re-state these issues in a neutral fashion, the issues presented are:

Issue 1: Does the !

Does the Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department ("BVFD")

and its employees receive the protection of the Mississippi

Tort Claims Act ("MTCA")?

Issue 2:

Did the County Court of DeSoto County err by failing to

dismiss the claims of the Estate of Joe D. Coyle?

This interlocutory appeals follows the trial court's denial of Glen Poppenheimer's *Motion to Dismiss or in the alternative for Summary Judgment*. Mississippi appellate courts apply a *de novo* standard of review in cases where a trial court has granted or denied summary judgment. See, *e.g.*, *Arcadia Farms Partnership v. Audubon Ins. Co.*, No. 2009–CT–00903–SCT, 77 So.3d 100, 104 (¶ 16) (Miss. 2012) ("We review a trial court's grant of summary judgment de novo."), and *Automobile Ins. Co. of Hartford v. Lipscomb*, No. 2010–IA–00149–SCT, 75 So.3d 557 (¶ 6) (Miss. 2001) ("This Court reviews a trial court's grant or denial of a motion for summary judgment under a de novo standard."). The Mississippi Supreme Court has often observed:

Summary judgment is appropriate only where "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c). The evidence must be considered in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion is made. *In re Estate of Laughter*, 23 So.3d at 1060 (Miss.2009) (quoting Bullock, 872 So.2d at 660).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup>See Brief of the Appellant, Glenn Poppenheimer, p. 1.

Sweet v. TCI MS, Inc., No. 2009-CA-01260-SCT, 47 So.3d 89, 91 (¶ 9) (Miss. 2010). The moving party (in this case, Glen Poppenheimer) "bears the burden of demonstrating there is no genuine issue of material fact." University of Mississippi Medical Center v. Easterling, No. 2004-IA-02360-SCT, 928 So.2d 815, 817 (¶ 8) (Miss. 2006). Furthermore, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that "summary judgment should be granted with great caution." Palmer v. Anderson Infirmary Benevolent Association, 656 So.2d 790, 794 (Miss. 1995). The Court has also plainly stated that "[s]ummary judgment is no substitute for trial regarding disputed issues of fact." Barner v. Gorman, 605 So.2d 805, 808 (Miss. 1992).

Also, in this civil action, Glen Poppenheimer is claiming protection under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act (which is codified as MISS. CODE ANN. §11-46-1, et seq., and which may also be referred to herein as "MTCA"), and appellate review of the application of the MTCA is also de novo. See, e.g., Price v. Clark, No. 2007-CA-01671-SCT, 21 So.3d 509, 517 (¶10) (Miss. 2009) ("... this Court reviews the application of the MTCA de novo."), and Lee v. Memorial Hosp. at Gulfport, No. 2007-CA-01762-SCT, 999 So.2d 1263, 1266 (¶8) (Miss. 2008) ("This Court reviews the application of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("MTCA") de novo.").

\* \* \*

## B. GLEN POPPENHEIMER IS NOT PROTECTED BY THE MISSISSIPPI TORT CLAIMS ACT

The trial court held:

A question exists as to the application of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act to Volunteer Fire Departments. The Court cannot find as a matter of law that [Glen] Poppenheimer was entitled to the protections and notice requirements of the MTCA and therefore, his Motion for Summary Judgment on those grounds will be denied.<sup>113</sup>

Glen Poppenheimer, however, argues in the *Brief of the Appellant, Glenn Poppenheimer*, that:

The Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department is a political subdivision as the term is defined in MISS. CODE ANN. §11-46-1(i). Mr. Poppenheimer is its employee and was acting within the course and scope of his employment at the time of the underlying collision. Accordingly, Mr. Poppenheimer receives the protections and benefits set forth in the Mississippi Tort Claims Act.<sup>114</sup>

The statute referenced by Poppenheimer, MISS. CODE ANN. §11-46-1(i), states:

As no statute or case confers the status of "governmental entity" upon a volunteer fire department and the statute defining political subdivisions of the State of Mississippi is silent on the issue, this Court declines to act as a legislative body by bestowing that title upon the BVFD. To paraphrase (and I use the term liberally) then Hinds County Circuit and now Federal District Court Judge Graves from the *Miller* case, "I'm putting it on the record. I don't know if a Volunteer Fire Department is a government entity. I don't know Supreme Court. Please tell me!" As the parties have already indicated that the non-prevailing party intends to ask for leave to file an interlocutory appeal with the Mississippi Supreme Court, it is this Court's desire that the Supreme Court approve their request and provide guidance to the trial courts on this issue; an issue that, despite the existence of over 10,000 volunteer firemen in this State, has managed to escape judicial scrutiny.

R. 136-137. See *Miller v. Meeks*, No. 1999-CA-00210-SCT, 762 So.2d 302, 304 (¶ 2) (Miss. 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup>R. 138. Notably, the trial court's order also stated:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup>See Brief of the Appellant, Glenn Poppenheimer, p. 9.

"Political subdivision" means any body politic or body corporate other than the state responsible for governmental activities only in geographic areas smaller than that of the state, including but not limited to, any county, municipality, school district, community hospital as defined in Section 41-13-10, Mississippi Code of 1972, airport authority or other instrumentality thereof, whether or not such body or instrumentality thereof has the authority to levy taxes or to sue or be sued in its own name.

Poppenheimer supports his argument by claiming: (1) that "[t]he Mississippi Tort Claims Act applies, by its very terms, to firefighters," citing MISS. CODE ANN. §11-46-9(1)(c); (2) that the Bridgetown Volunteer Fire Department ("BVFD") meets the statutory definition of a "governmental entity" found at MISS. CODE ANN. §11-46-1(g) (which states that a "Governmental entity" means and includes the state and its political subdivisions ....") because the BVFD "is a quintessential body politic" under MISS. CODE ANN. §11-46-1(i) which provides "fire protection" and that "fire protection" is "a governmental function"; and, (3) that, alternatively, the BVFD is an "instrumentality" of DeSoto County (which "... is without question a political subdivision ..."). The Coyles respectfully state to this Court that Poppenheimer's argument is without merit, and that the ruling of the trial court should be affirmed.

\* \* \*

# 1. Does Mississippi Law Exempt Firefighters Engaged in the Performance of Their Duties from Liability for Negligence?

Glen Poppenheimer argues that 'Mississippi law exempts firefighters engaged in the performance of their duties from liability for negligence.' Poppenheimer is correct, but Poppenheimer points to the wrong statutory exemption. Poppenheimer desperately wants to find a way to fit himself within the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("MTCA") so that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup>See Brief of the Appellant, Glenn Poppenheimer, p. 9.

notice requirements of MISS. CODE ANN. §11-46-11 (rev. 2002) may be applied and Poppenheimer can have the Coyles' claim against him dismissed for lack of notice, but all the while Poppenheimer ignores MISS. CODE ANN. §95-9-1, et seq. (statutes which are together captioned *Liability Exemption for Volunteers and Sports Officials*). MISS. CODE ANN. §95-9-1 states, in pertinent part, as follows:

- (3) A qualified volunteer who renders assistance to a participant in, or a recipient, consumer or user of the services or benefits of a volunteer activity **shall not be liable for any civil damages** for any personal injury or property damage caused to a person as a result of any acts or omissions committed in good faith **except**:
- (a) Where the qualified volunteer engages in acts or omissions which are intentional, willful, wanton, reckless or grossly negligent; or
- (b) Where the qualified volunteer negligently operates a motor vehicle, aircraft, boat or other powered mode of conveyance.

(Emphasis added.) Notably, Section 95-9-1(1) provides the following definitions:

- (a) "Qualified volunteer" means any person who freely provides services ... without any compensation or charge to any volunteer agency in connection with a volunteer activity. For purposes of this chapter, reimbursement of actual expenses, including travel expenses, necessarily incurred in the discharge of a member's duties, insurance coverage and workers' compensation coverage of volunteers, shall not be considered monetary compensation.
- (b) "Volunteer agency" means any department, institution, community volunteer organization ... . Volunteer agency shall also include any volunteer firefighter association which is eligible to be designated as a nonprofit corporation under 501(c)(3) by the United States Internal Revenue Service.
- (c) "Volunteer activity" means any activity within the scope of any project, program or other activity regularly sponsored by a volunteer agency with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup>These statutes have been referred to as Mississippi's "Good Samaritan" law. These statutes, which were raised by the Coyles in the trial court (see R. 171-174), are not discussed, mentioned, or even listed in the *Brief of the Appellant*, *Glenn Poppenheimer* (see p. vi).

intent to effect a charitable purpose, or other public benefit *including*, but not limited to, *fire protection*, rescue services, the enhancement of the cultural, civic, religious, educational, scientific or economic resources of the community or equine activity as provided in Sections 95-11-1 et seq.

(Emphasis added.) Thus, MISS. CODE ANN. §95-9-1 provides that a "Qualified volunteer" providing "services" for a "Volunteer agency" which is engaged in "Volunteer activity" (which specifically includes "any volunteer firefighter association" and which specifically includes "fire protection") "shall not be liable for any civil damages" except "[w]here the qualified volunteer negligently operates a motor vehicle ...."

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